
LABOR LAW
By JAMES B. RHOADS*

In calendar year 1973, the United States Court of Appeals for the Fifth
Circuit decided approximately 90 cases involving the interpretation and
application of the major federal statutes governing the employment rela-
tionship, i.e., the Labor Management Relations Act,' the Railway Labor
Act,2 the Occupational Safety and Health Act,3 and the Fair Labor Stan-
dards Act.4 This article is a survey of the significant opinions of the court
in the field of labor law, arranged under headings corresponding with the
respective statutes under which the cases were decided.

LABOR MANAGEMENT RELATIONS AcT

During the year the court decided over 60 cases arising under the Labor
Management Relations Act. The court published 47 opinions, which was
a significant increase over the 23 opinions published during calendar year
1972. Again, the court made use of Local Rule 21,5 enforcing without opin-
ion 16 orders of the National Labor Relations Board. Again, the opinions
dealt with a wide range of problems under the Labor Management Rela-
tions Act, including matters involving both procedure and substance.

Jurisdiction

In Ochsner Clinic v. N.L.R.B., 1 the court held that the Board7 correctly
assumed jurisdiction over the employer, a medical clinic owned by a pri-
vate association of physicians who were neither primarily engaged in edu-
cation and research, nor operating a non-profit hospital. The requisite
impact on interstate commerce was found from the stipulated facts that
the clinic did a gross volume during the relevant period in excess of
$250,000 and purchased materials and supplies in excess of $50,000 during
that period.

The court found wanting the employer's argument that the Board's as-
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sertion of jurisdiction over a similar clinic" was not valid authority for
asserting jurisdiction in Ochsner, because in the earlier case both parties
had petitioned the Board to assert its jurisdiction. The court reasoned that
the Board's decision whether to assert power over the parties is one for
administrative determination, and the parties' feelings in the matter are
irrelevant.

In N.L.R.B. v. Natchez Trace Electric Power Ass'n, the Board held that
a non-profit electric power association incorporated under Mississippi's
Electric Power Association Act was not a "political subdivision" within the
meaning of section 2(2)" of the Act, which excludes any state or political
subdivision thereof from the Act's coverage. The court agreed with the
Board's analysis in distinguishing the characteristics of the employer in
that case from those of the employer found to be a "political subdivision"
by the Supreme Court in the recent case, N.L.R.B. v. Natural Gas Utility
District of Hawkins County." The primary distinguishing factors were that
in Hawkins County the employer was run by a board of commissioners by
a county judge and removable through the same procedures by which other
public officials could be removed. Moreover, that organization was given
a broad grant of power and made a "municipality or public corporation"
within the meaning of state law; was exempt from most state, county, and
municipal taxes; could exercise eminent domain even against other gov-
ernmental units; and was required to maintain its records in a manner
which would be open to the general public.

On the other hand, in Natchez, the organization was run by directors
elected by members of the organization rather than the general public, who
were removable only for misfeasance. The organization was not a "munici-
pality" under state law, was not exempt from state, county, or municipal
taxes; could not exercise eminent domain proceedings against other gov-
ernmental agencies; and was not required to maintain records open to the
general public. The court found those distinctions determinative, and
enforced the Board's order.

Proceedings Under Sections 8 and 10

(Unfair Labor Practice Cases)

Protected Concerted Activity

The court denied enforcement of two Board orders in which it felt the
Board incorrectly broadened the concept of protected concerted activity.
In N.L.R.B. v. Buddies Super Markets, Inc.,"2 the court held that an em-

8. Mayo Clinic, 168 N.L.R.B. 557 (1967).
9. 476 F.2d 1042 (5th Cir. 1973).
10. 29 U.S.C. §152 (2)(1970).
11. 402 U.S. 600 (1971).
12. 481 F.2d 714 (5th Cir. 1973).
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ployee who was seeking to gain more favorable terms of employment for
himself, and was neither inviting others to join him nor seeking group
action, was not indulging in protected concerted activity, and therefore
was not illegally discharged for continually complaining about his method
of compensation. In so holding, the court expressly adopted the reasoning
of the Third Circuit in Mushroom Transportation Co. v. N.L.R.B.'3

In N.L.R.B. v. J. Weingarten, Inc., 1 the court followed recent opinions
of the Seventh 'r and the Fourth'" Circuits, and held the right to act in
concert for mutual aid and protection contained in section 7 of the Act does
not entitle an employee to union representation during an investigatory
interview absent

some showing that the purpose of the interview was not merely to elicit
facts concerning employee conduct but to impose disciplinary measures
upon the employee so that grievance hearings later on would merely put
the seal on the employer's prejudgment.'"

The court was unwilling to accept the Board's broad premise that section
7 requires an employer to permit an employee to have a union representa-
tive present at an interview whenever the employee has reasonable grounds
to fear that the interview will adversely affect his continued employment
or his working conditions.

Section 8(a)(1) "-Actions of Employer as "Interference, Restraint, or
Coercion"

The court found supported by substantial evidence two Board holdings
that employer conduct constituted unlawful interference with the rights of
employees. In N.L.R.B. v. Henriksen, Inc., 9 the court found that in view
of the employer's demonstrated animus against unions, the Board justifia-
bly found a violation of section 8(a)(1) when, in otherwise-legal speeches,
the employer implied that reprisals would ensue if employees did not re-
voke authorization cards they had not signed, and incorrectly analogized
bargaining with the union to bargaining with ordinary suppliers. The court
found the conduct in question was on the borderline dividing the legal from
the illegal, but nevertheless held for the Board:

The evidence adduced by the Board here need not be overwhelming. But
difficulty is necessarily encountered in investigating and proving by infer-
ence threats of retaliatory action in labor-management relations. For that

13. 330 F.2d 683 (3d Cir. 1964).
14. 485 F.2d 1135 (5th Cir. 1973).
15. Mobil Oil Corp. v. N.L.R.B., 482 F.2d 842 (7th Cir. 1973).
16. N.L.R.B. v. Quality Mfg. Co., 481 F.2d 1018 (4th Cir. 1973).
17. 485 F.2d at 1138.
18. 29 U.S.C. §158(a)(1) (1970).
19. 481 F.2d 1156 (5th Cir. 1973).
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reason we are required to give great deference to the Board's expertise in
this highly sensitive area.2"

Similarly, in N.L.R.B. v. Birdsall Construction Co.," the court agreed
with the Board that an employer violated section 8(a)(1) when its vocally
anti-union vice president took employees aside and asked them questions
concerning their feelings regarding union organization without contempor-
aneously giving assurances against reprisal.

Section 8(a)(2)22-Improper Employer Aid to Union

In N.L.R.B. v. Western Commerical Transport, Inc., 23 the court enforced
a Board order finding unlawful the company's recognition of and bargain-
ing with, a union which presented cards for 89 of 162 employees, while
another union with whom the employer had previously had a collective
bargaining agreement was litigating the status of that agreement in the
federal courts. The court approved of the Board's application of the Mid-
West Piping4 "strict neutrality" rule to the employer, since it was manifest
that a question concerning representation still existed inasmuch as the
predecessor union had clearly not abandoned its claim of representing the
employees in question.

Section 8(a)(3)25 -Actions of Employer Intended to "Encourage or
Discourage" Union Membership

The court denied enforcement or remanded four Board cases involving
findings of violations of section 8(a)(3). In United Gas Pipeline Co. Q.
N. L.R.B., 2 1 the court refused to enforce a Board finding that the employer's
failure to grant a transfer to one of its employees violated section 8(a)(3).
The court noted the following factors which tended to refute the Board's
contention that the company had discriminated against the employee in
question. First, the action was based on a written company policy of long
standing and uniform application. Further, there was no evidence that the
employee in question was involved in the union, nor was there evidence
that the employer making the decision knew of any union activity on the
part of that employee. Finally, even if the employer had made an exception
to its long standing policy, the employee in question would not have gotten
the job he sought because he lacked sufficient seniority to hold that posi-
tion. The only evidence in the case which supported the Board's finding
was a statement of a low-level supervisor who told the employee in ques-

20. Id. at 1161.
21. 487 F.2d 288 (5th Cir. 1973).
22. 29 U.S.C. 158(a)(2) (1970).
23. 487 F.2d at 332.
24. Midwest Piping & Supply Co., 63 N.L.R.B. 1060 (1945).
25. 29 U.S.C. §158(a)(3) (1970).
26. 471 F.2d 395 (5th Cir. 1973).
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tion that the reason he did not get transferred was "probably because of
the union." The court found that this statement alone was not substantial
evidence.

In N.L.R.B. v. Buddies Super Markets, Inc.,27 the court found that an
employee (whose name, Greever, had no bearing on the outcome), was not
discharged in violation of section 8(a)(3) for "grazing" fifteen cents' worth
of candy, despite the fact that she was a union adherent. The court found
the basic defect in the Board's case to be a lack of the requisite substantial
evidence that the employer knew that the employee in question was in-
dulging in union activity. The sole evidence concerning the employer's
knowledge was the employee's testimony and the small-plant doctrine.
The employee testified that she had spoken with four employees regarding
the union during the week before her discharge. Two of those four employ-
ees and the union organizer testified that the employee had not talked
about the union until after her discharge. With regard to the small-plant
doctrine, the store manager who discharged the employee had only been
working at the store in question for thirty days prior to the employee's
dismissal. The court held that such evidence amounted to nothing more
than speculation:

One week of doubtful and unnoticeable alleged union activity disputed by
friendly fellow employees in a store where the manager had only recently
been assigned does not constitute substantial evidence to support the
Board's decision when considered in conjunction with the record in its
entirety.28

The Board made its finding despite the fact that the trial examiner
discredited much of the testimony presented by the employer and fully
credited the testimony of the employee in question. The court observed
that "[bly the technique of making credibility choices, the trial examiner
should not be allowed to reach factual conclusions which are not supported
by substantial evidence."wrhe court likewise found that the Board lacked
evidence when it found the employer violated the Act by discharging a
union card signer after he revealed to a prominent citizen the fact that he
had signed the card. The citizen had helped the company get established
in town and was used as a reference by many employees. The court found
that the fact that the prominent citizen and the employer's personnel
manager went on vacation together shortly after the revelation of the em-
ployee's card signing activity did not establish the requisite nexus between
the employer and the citizen to support a conclusion of company knowl-
edge. The court pointed out that under no circumstances would the citizen
have been found to be an agent of the company, since he was not overtly
clothed with apparent authority, and there was no evidence that the em-

27. 481 F.2d. 714 (5th Cir. 1973).
28. Id. at 722.
29. Id.
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ployees could reach the reasonable and predictable conclusion that he was
serving as an organ of company management.

In N.L.R.B. v. Henricksen, Inc., 30 the court disagreed with both the trial
examiner and the Board that the discharge of a leading union adherent two
days after the election violated section 8(a)(3). The court noted that the
company had reason to believe that the employee participated in a scheme
to defraud the company, and it was undisputed that the employee did
violate company policy in a manner which could have resulted in the
effective carrying out of that scheme. Furthermore, the employee had a
bad record prior to the discharge.

In N. L.R.B. v. Bogart Sportswear Manufacturing Co.," the court agreed
with the Board that the evidence did not substantiate the trial examiner's
conclusion that the lay off of eight of ten employees was a reduction in force
which was concededly economic in nature and was not discriminatory. The
court, however, remanded as to two employees whose credited testimony
showed that after their pro union proclivities became known, they were
given work on which it was substantially more difficult to achieve high
productivity. The court found that under those circumstances a violation
of section 8(a)(3) was proved, and directed the Board to issue an order
granting those employees reinstatement and back pay:

The General Counsel amply established . . . that [the employees] were
treated differently by Bogart because of their union adherence in a man-
ner which materially resulted in their selection to shoulder the burden of
the necessary reduction in force. No more was required of the general
counsel under the Act."

Section 8(a)(5)33-Employer's Duty to Bargain

Two of the three cases decided by the court involving an employer's duty
to bargain were concerned with employers in a multi-employer bargaining
unit.

In N.L.R.B. v. State Electric Service, Inc. ,'34the employer had a dispute
with the union during the term of a multi-employer collective bargaining
agreement, and the employees of the union struck over that dispute. The
employer replaced all of the striking employees and ceased all relations
with the union. Subsequently, the employers' association of which the
employer was a member entered into another collective bargaining agree-
ment which the employer refused to honor. The court agreed with the
Board's finding that the company violated section 8(a)(5) of the Act by,
in effect repudiating both collective bargaining agreements. The court held

30. 481 F.2d 1156 (5th Cir. 1973).
31. 485 F.2d 1203 (5th Cir. 1973).
32. Id. at 1212.
33. 29 U.S.C. §158(a)(5) (1970).
34. 477 F.2d 749 (5th Cir. 1973).
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that the work stoppage in and of itself was not sufficient to allow repudia-
tion of the collective bargaining agreement, even if that strike was in
violation of a no-strike clause in the contract. The Board and the court
emphasized the availability to the employer of the "peaceful" remedies for
breach of a no-strike clause, such as resort to the grievance procedure or a
suit under section 301 of the Act. The company's failure to pursue either
of these possible avenues took much force from the employer's argument
that its actions were taken in good faith.

In N.L.R.B. v. Hi-Way Billboards, Inc., '35 the court held that the em-
ployer's withdrawal from a multi-employer organization prior to the execu-
tion of a collective bargaining agreement may have been justified by the
"special circumstance" of impasse. In that case, the employer participated
in a number of bargaining sessions for a two-month period prior to the
expiration of the then-current agreement. When the agreement expired,
the union membership voted to reject the latest association proposal and
authorized a strike beginning the following week. Prior to the time set for
the strike, the company withdrew from the multi-employer association and
refused to deal further with the union except on an individual basis. The
Board found that the company's withdrawal from the multi-employer asso-
ciation and its subsequent refusal to deal with the union except on an
individual basis violated section 8(a)(5).

The court remanded the case to the Board because the evidence showed
that an impasse existed in the bargaining as of the time the company
withdrew from the multi-employer unit. Recognizing the rule that an em-
ployer may not withdraw from an established multi-employer unit after
negotiations have begun absent union consent or unusual circumstances, 3

1

the court found in light of the impasse that the Board's conclusion that
there were no "special circumstances" lacked substantial support in the
record. The court, however, was unwilling to hold that the presence of the
impasse did consitute special circumstances, but rather remanded the case
to the Board for a consideration of the matter:

Convinced as we are that a genuine impasse in the bargaining was reached
by the Association and the Union immediately prior to the Company's -

withdrawal from the multi-employer bargaining unit, we are without an
opinion as to the legal consequences of that fact. This is because we have
not had the benefit of a considered discussion of that issue by both parties
herein subsequent to a decision on the question by the N.L.R.B. Accord-
ingly, we remand the case to the N.L.R.B. so that it may be given the first
opportunity to decide whether an impasse such as found here excuses the
Company from withdrawing from the multi-employer bargaining unit. 7

35. 473 F.2d 649 (5th Cir. 1973).
36. See, e.g., N.L.R.B. v. Tulsa Sheet Metal Works, Inc., 367 F.2d 55, 57 (10th Cir. 1966);

N.L.R.B. v. Sheridan Creations, Inc., 357 F.2d 245 (2d Cir., 1966), cert. denied, 385 U.S. 1005
(1967).

37. 473 F.2d at 655.
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In the third case considering the employer's duty to bargain, N.L.R.B.
v. Downs-Clark, Inc. ,3 the court denied enforcement of a Board order that
a company sign a collective bargaining agreement minus a wage provision
and a clause concerning merit increases. Throughout its negotiations with
the union, the company had insisted on the right to grant increases to
employees it felt merited them. The union had objected throughout, and
at one point had struck over the issue. During the negotiations, the com-
pany set forth a series of written proposals which did not contain any
provision for wages or for duration of the contract. The union finally ac-
quiesced in those proposals, but would not agree to the company's position
that merit increases ought to be allowed. Nevertheless, the Board, in agree-
ment with the union, concluded that the union's acquiescence in the com-
pany proposals meant effectively that an agreement was reached as of the
day of that acquiescence. Accordingly, the Board ordered the company to
sign an agreement consisting of its proposals, which of course contained no
provisions concerning wages, duration, or merit increases.

The court considered the absence of these provisions fatal to the Board's
conclusion that a valid collective bargaining agreement existed: "[T]he
record clearly shows that there was no meeting of the minds on the key
issues of wages and merit increases. The parties had not accomplished
their express intention to arrive at a complete, integral agreement. 3 9

The court reasoned that to enforce the Board's order would be tanta-
mount to requiring the employer to agree to a proposal or to make a
concession to the union on positions consistently held throughout the nego-
tiating process. Accordingly, the court denied enforcement of the Board's
order.

Sections 8(b)(I)40 and (2) 1-Action of the Union as Restraint and Coercion

In N.L.R.B. v. Sheet Metal Workers' Local 361,2 the court enforced a
Board order which found the union violated sections 8(b)(1) and 8(b)(2)
of the Act by fining a supervisor for allegedly firing union members for
drunkenness and without just cause, and by encouraging the company to
hire members of a rival union. The court agreed with the Board that the
trial examiner's findings that the union was in essence punishing the su-
pervisor for committing an unfair labor practice begged the issue in the
case, noting that the union's good faith was immaterial, and that the union
had an adequate remedy to pursue under the National Labor Relations Act
for violations of that law. The court further approved the Board's finding
that the union had no legitimate complaint against the supervisor for

38. 479 F.2d 546 (5th Cir. 1973).
39. Id. at 548.
40. 29 U.S.C. §158(b)(1) (1970).
41. 29 U.S.C. §158(b)(2) (1970).
42. 477 F.2d 675 (5th Cir. 1973).

[Vol. 25



LABOR LAW

hiring members of another local union, noting that "[u]nion rules requir-
ing that their supervisor members hire only fellow union members have
long been associated with illegal efforts to reinstate the closed shop out-
lawed by the Taft-Hartley Amendments of 1947." 4

Section 1O(j)(1)I-Injunctive Relief

In Boire v. International Brotherhood of Teamsters,15 the company was
a signatory to the National Master Freight Agreement with the IBT. Dur-
ing the term of the contract, it acquired rights from the Interstate Com-
merce Commission to service the state of Florida. In order to take care of
this newly acquired business, the company established three terminals in
Florida and decided to use owner operators to man its trucks. The Teams-
ters sought to represent all Florida employees and filed grievances under
the National Master Freight Agreement, claiming that agreement required
an accretion of all Florida employees. This grievance was ultimately re-
solved in favor of the union in a rather complicated arbitration proceeding.
The company refused to comply with the arbitration order, and the union
struck the company in Florida. The company filed an unfair labor practice
charge alleging that the strike action coerced its Florida employees in their
right not to become members of the union, and that the union unlawfully
refused to bargain with the company by illegally exerting pressure to ex-
pand the collective bargaining unit. The regional director filed a complaint
on the company's charges and sought injunctive relief under section 10(j)
of the Act to preserve the status quo pending Board determination of the
unfair labor practice. The district court-granted injunctive relief and the
union appealed.

The court of appeals affirmed, emphasizing that the test to be applied
in determining the propriety of the injunctive order sought by the Board
was whether the employer's charges "were substantial and not frivolous."
After an exhaustive review of the law, the court of appeals concluded that
even though the employer's contentions were "novel," they were neither
insubstantial nor frivolous. The court further noted that the general coun-
sel, in addition to showing the substantial nature of the charges, made out
a strong case for injunctive relief by showing that the status quo could only
be preserved by injunctive relief against the union, and that the union
would be hurt less by the granting of the relief than the company would
by the failure to grant relief. The following language in the court's decision
best summarizes its holdings in the case:

In sum, when faced with a §10(j) petition, the District Court should not
engage in a dispositive analysis of the legal issues involved in the underly-
ing unfair labor practice proceedings and should examine them only as far

43. Id. at 679.
44. 29 U.S.C. §160(j)(1) (1970).
45. 479 F.2d 778 (5th Cir. 1973).
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as necessary to determine whether the theories are insubstantial or frivo-
lous. Where the circumstances make equitable relief proper, as here, and
the legal theories are novel and contested, as they are here, the temporary
injunction should be granted so long as the legal theories are not insub-
stantial or frivolous. Thus, the legal questions are preserved for the forum
that Congress has designated as best qualified to pass upon these mat-
ters.'6

In Potter v. Houston Gulf Coast Building Trades Council,47 the court was
called upon to pass upon the scope of the injunctive relief entered by a
district judge at the request of an N.L.R.B. regional director. In that case,
the union was picketing at several construction site gates concededly re-
served for neutral employers. The union did not contest that the regional
director had reasonable grounds to believe that section 8(b) (4)8 was being
violated by such conduct. At the request of the regional director, the dis-
trict court prohibited all picketing at all of the sites in question, supporting
the regional director's contention that such picketing was a "signal" to all
employees to take action against neutral employers. The court further
ordered the union to notify all neutral subcontractors and their employees
that the union had no objection to those employees returning to work. The
union contended that both of these portions of the order were overbroad.

The court agreed with the union that the portion of the order enjoining
all picketing at the sites in question was indeed overbroad since there was
no evidence that there was any violence.YThe court, however, noted that
it was basing this decision only on the evidence before the district judge
at the time he entered his order. The court stated specifically:

If subsequent events demonstrate [limited] relief to be inadequate-for
instance if it becomes clear that the primary picketing operates as nothing
more than a signal to neutral employees to remain on strike-then the
district court can always respond in an appropriate manner.10

The court, however, affirmed the district court's requirement that the
union notify neutral employers and their employees that it no longer ob-
jected to a return to work.

Remedies

The court routinely enforced three N.L.R.B. Gissel-5 orders requiring
employers to bargain with a union which had secured the signatures of a
majority of the employees in an appropriate unit because of conduct which
violated section 8(a)(1) of the Act.

46. Id. at 792.
47. 482 F.2d 837 (5th Cir. 1973).
48. 29 U.S.C. §158(b)(4) (1970).
49. See, e.g., Youngdahl v. Rainfair, Inc., 355 U.S. 131 (1957).
50. 482 F.2d at 841.
51. N.L.R.B. v. Gissel Packing Co., 395 U.S. 575 (1969).
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In N.L.R.B. v. Kaiser Agricultural Chemicals, ' 2 the court rejected a
number of arguments advanced by the company as to why a bargaining
order was inappropriate. First, the court rejected the company's contention
that the Board was required to show a direct relationship between the
unfair labor practices in question and the loss of the union's majority
status. The court held that the Board merely need show that the unfair
labor practices had the tendency to dissipate support for the union and
that the union subsequently lost its majority. The court likewise rejected
the company's contention that the Board failed to explicate its reasons
that a fair re-run election was unlikely. In this regard, the court noted the
nature of the unfair labor practices which included surveillance, the crea-
tion of the impression of surveillance, and interrogation and threats, and
the anti-labor context in which they were committed. This amply justified
the bargaining order in the court's opinion.

The court also rejected contentions that the unfair labor practices were
committed only by lower-level supervisors, noting that the company made
no effort whatsoever to disavow the actions of those supervisors. Further,
the court rejected the company's assertion that there was a two-month
hiatus in unfair labor practices prior to the election, and that the effects
thereof must have been dissipated. The court felt that it would be wholly
inappropriate to adopt a per se rule that the mere passage of time without
more is sufficient "to clear the electoral atmosphere of the polluting parti-
cles of employer misconduct." Finally, the court rejected the company's
contention that a bargaining order was not warranted because after the
election, 36 of the company's employees sent a petition to the Board re-
questing that another election not be held. The court stated that an em-
ployer cannot be allowed to benefit from an employee recantation that is
the product of unfair labor practices.

In N.L.R.B. v. WKRG-TV, Inc., 53 the court also held a Gissel order
appropriate where the employer made promises of benefit, and unilaterally
carried out those promises by increasing benefits prior to the election. The
court also considered the often-raised, but seldom successful defense of
"supervisory taint" with regard to authorization cards signed prior to an
election. This issue, of course, can be important on the question of whether
the union has achieved the necessary "showing of interest" to raise a
"question concerning representation," 4 as well as on the issue of whether

52. 473 F.2d 374 (5th Cir. 1973).
53. 470 F.2d 1302 (5th Cir. 1973).
54. The Board's statements of procedure, 24 C.F.R. §101(18) (1973) provide in pertinent

part: "Iiln the absence of special factors the conduct of an election serves no purpose under
the statute unless the petitioner has been designated by at least 30% of the employees."
Securing evidence of authorization from the requisite 30% of employees in an appropriate unit
is usually termed in Board parlance a "showing of interest."

The existence of a "question concerning representation," puts into motion the Board proce-
dure for representational action.
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a majority of the employees have signed authorization cards so as to pro-
vide a predicate for a Gissel bargaining order.

The court pronounced itself "highly sensitive" to the problem of supervi-
sory influence, but was unwilling to adopt the company's contention that
if a supervisor has made statements favoring the union and an employee
has heard those statements, the employee will forever be precluded from
signing a valid card subsequent to such exposure, because of the inherently
coercive nature of the supervisor-employee relationship. The court stated:

It is actual pressure and coercion we are seeking to avoid by our rule
disallowing cards tainted by supervisory influence. A mechanical rule that
requires a finding of supervisory solicitation in situations such as we have
here, where there is no hint of intimidation, is too broad.

Before the Board invalidates a card because of pro-union supervisory solic-
itation, there must be some showing that the signing employee was subject
to a reasonable apprehension that his failure to sign could have adverse
consequences. Certainly a direct solicitation by a known supervisor could
give rise to the necessary inference of reasonable apprehension . . . simi-
larly, active campaigning for the union by the supervisor even without
actual solicitation, could in many circumstances necessitate a finding of
improper solicitation.55

The court found that the evidence supported the conclusion that the
supervisors in question in that case manifested a favorable attitude toward
the union to all the employees who signed the cards. The court held that
those manifestations did not, however, rise to the level of actual solicita-
tion or active campaigning that was necessary for a finding of improper
solicitation. Accordingly, the court rejected the employer's contention that
the card should be invalidated.

The Board considered the propriety of considerable delay in a back pay
proceeding in the seemingly interminable litigation involving J.H. Rutter
Rex Manufacturing Co. v. N.L.R.B.16 In that case, a strike occurred in
1954, which ultimately was found to have been an unfair labor practice
strike. A back pay specification and notice of hearing were filed with regard
to that case in November 1961. Proceedings surrounding that specification
were litigated until April 1970, when the Fifth Circuit on remand from the
Supreme Court issued its judgment enforcing the Board's original back pay
order.5 7 The Board held off on all claims extending subsequent to the
original back pay specification in 1961, until after the court's order termi-
nating the litigation regarding the first back pay specification.

The company contended that the Board's delay in pursuing the second
back pay specification so unduly prejudiced the company's case that no

55. 470 F.2d at 1315.
56. 473 F.2d 223 (5th Cir. 1973). Other cases involving the same parties are reported at

245 F.2d 594 (1957), 305 F.2d 242 (1962), 399 F.2d 356 (1968), and 396 U.S. 258 (1969).
57. This decision was unreported.
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back pay should be awarded. The court rejected this position, noting that
essentially the same position had been raised and rejected by the Supreme
Court with respect to the first back pay specification. The court particu-
larly cited the Supreme Court's conclusion in that case to the effect that
while the delay therein present was deplorable, the cost of that delay
should not be shifted from the company to the employees. The court
stated:

In this second back pay order we find the case against allowing the delay
factor to prejudice the claimants to be even stronger than in Rutter Rex
I. Before commencing the second back pay specification, the Board wisely
waited until after the first back pay order was aiproved by the courts. Had
the Court of Appeals decision limiting back pay liability to the pre-1959
period been accepted by the Supreme Court, a fortiori, a post-1961 back
pay specification would have been of dubious legality."

The company also raised the contention that it had been denied a fair
hearing and due process by the Board's refusal, on the grounds of qualified
privilege, to comply with the company's subpoena for all written memo-
randa prepared by Board agents in interviewing back pay claimants. The
court rejected this claim, characterizing the company's request as a
"wholesale fishing expedition" which the Board was privileged to discour-
age. While recognizing the Board's proper role in representing the interest
of claimants who already had been adjudged to be entitled to reparation
for the company's earlier transgressions of the Act, the court was not will-
ing to recognize the Board's privilege in that case as an unqualified one:

Rather, it recognizes the fine balancing of interest that is involved in the
creation, enforcement and drawing of exceptions to any evidentiary rule.
Were the documents here sought more facially reliable, or if there did not
exist any feasible alternative means to impeach the claimants, or if there
were a more specific demand than the one made here, the balance might
very well be struck in such a way as to overcome the qualified privilege
protecting the Board's investigative files."

Giving effect to the above caveat, the court found that the Board did err
in not allowing an ex-Board agent called by the company, to review notes
he had made regarding a relevant interview with a claimant for purposes
of refreshing his recollection of that interview. The court first noted the

58. 473 F.2d at 228.
59. Id. at 232. A subpoena asked the Board to produce:

Each and every statement, written and/or recorded and memoranda made by or
as a result of interview or contact with any person, including back pay claimants,
which pertains to employment, search for employment, interim earnings, availabil-
ity for employment and/or any other matter affecting any backpay claimant named
in the Supplemental Backpay Specification for the periods January 1, 1961 through
December 31 of the year in which the individual claimed terminates . . ..

60. 473 F.2d at 235.
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long established principle that a witness is allowed great latitude in review-
ing otherwise irrelevant documents for purposes of refreshing his recollec-
tion. The court distinguished that situation from the broad subpoena situ-
ation noted above in several ways. First, the Board had little real need to
prevent its former officer from remembering a particular factual matter.
Second, the request made by the company in this instance was narrow and
specific. Third, the file was requested specifically for the purpose of re-
freshing the witness's recollection, and the law clearly favors the procedure
of permitting a witness to refresh his recollection. Further, the file was
sought solely for the light it would throw on a disputed factual issue.
Finally, there was no hearsay problem in the use of this file, since both the
interviewer and the interviewee were present at the trial and subject to
cross-examination. The court therefore found that the reasoning which
allowed the Board to withhold documents sought by a broad based sub-
poena were not applicable to the specific information requested for pur-
poses of refreshment. The court remanded only that portion of the decision
which dealt with the one back pay specification about which the ex-Board
agent was called to testify.

Proceedings Under Section 9
(Representation Cases)

All of the cases dealing with representation questions were considered
by the court in context of alleged violations by the employer of section
8(a)(5) of the Act. This section remains the vehicle for court review of
questions surrounding the Board's conduct of representation elections."

The court considered several interesting procedural points regarding the
conduct of representation action. In N.L.R.B.v. Dalton Sheet Metal Co., 2

the court held that the Board, instead of resolving the issue in an ex parte
investigation, should have granted a hearing on the question of whether
three striking employees had abandoned employment with the company
and thus should have been precluded from voting. The Board had dis-
agreed with the employer's contentions that the employees had quit their
jobs, claiming that the facts adduced in the ex parte investigation showed
that they were merely quitting for the time being until the strike and
confusion could subside. The court found that such a question did not
properly lend itself to disposition by summary judgment and remanded the
case to the Board for a hearing on the question.

In N.L.R.B. v. Houston Natural Gas Corp. ,63 an employer failed to offer
evidence to support his objections to conduct affecting results of an elec-
tion within the five-day period set by the regional director. The objections

61. See, e.g., Beaird and Sutter, Annual Fifth Circuit Survey: Labor Law and Related
Social Legislation, 22 MERCER L. REv. 697, 721, nn. 148 & 149 (1971).

62. 472 F.2d 257 (5th Cir. 1973).
63. 478 F.2d 467 (5th Cir. 1973).

[Vol. 25



LABOR LAW

were accordingly dismissed by the regional director, an action the em-
ployer contended was improper. The court agreed with the regional direc-
tor's dismissal of the case, noting that no reason was presented by the
employer for the failure to offer evidence within the five-day period, and
that it was the "implicit Congressional purpose" to expeditiously resolve
questions to the establishment of the bargaining relationship.

In N.L.R.B. v. Muscogee Lumber Co., 4 at the hearing on the Board's
motion for summary judgment, the company sought to submit what it
termed "new and material evidence" which consisted of an affidavit of an
employee who had previously testified in the representation proceeding,
stating in effect that the union agent told the employees that if the union
won, interest-free loans would be available to the employees on a personal
need basis. The court agreed with the Board's rejection of the tendered
evidence on the grounds that the company clearly had ample opportunity
to discover that evidence and to introduce it-at the earlier proceeding. Its
failure to do so was attributable mainly to its own lack of diligence and
thus was properly excluded.

In N.L.R.B. v. White Knight Manufacturing Co. ,65the court agreed with
the Board's disposition of an employer's objections to an election based on
allegations of what the court termed "verbal excesses and isolated
attempts to harass employees," affecting six employees out of a 180-
employee unit. The Board had held that the allegations and the affidavits
offered in support thereof did not make out a prima facie case requiring a
Board hearing to determine whether an election should be set aside, since
the company offered no evidence to show that the conduct had an adverse
effect on the election.

Misrepresentations

In Walled Lake Door Co. v. N.L.R.B.," the court disagreed entirely with
the Board's disposition of an employer's objection based on the union's
letter received by some employees three days before the election and re-
ceived by the company and the other employees one day before the elec-
tion. The letter, under the heading "Here are some of the things you
workers need," listed 16 benefits and a description thereof. At the bottom
of the letter was the statement "Join hands with employees of the four
Walled Lake plants who are represented by unions." In fact, only two of
the other four plants of the employer were organized.

The company contended that not only was the misrepresentation of the
number of organized plants a material one, but it adversely affected the
results of the election. The company offered affidavits from three members
of the bargaining unit and several employee representatives concerning the

64. 473 F.2d 1364 (5th Cir. 1973).
65. 474 F.2d 1064 (5th Cir. 1973).
66. 472 F.2d 1010 (5th Cir. 1973).
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impact of the last minute letter on the bargaining unit. According to this
evidence, the impact was considerable, and although the company at-
tempted to show the falsity of the representation made in the letter, many
employees chose to believe the letter. The union won the election by a vote
of 26 to 22, a difference in two votes being sufficient to change the results. 7

The Board refused to set the election aside and also refused to grant the
company a hearing. On petition for review, the court set the Board's order
aside in its entirety, holding that the undisputed facts in the record re-
quired the Board to reach a conclusion diametrically opposed to the con-
clusion it reached. The court was particularly critical of a gratuitous state-
ment in the regional director's opinion to the effect that there is no require-
ment that the distribution of campaign propaganda be timed so that the
other party has the opportunity to answer it. This the court found to offend
its sense of fair campaigning.

In N.L.R.B. v. Muscogee Lumber Co., 8 the court agreed with the
Board's conclusion that a promise of strike benefits by the union in the
event of a strike, and the company's statement that the union had falsely
accused a company attorney of offering $1,000 to the union to abandon its
campaign were not sufficient to set aside the results of the election, even
assuming that those events occurred. With regard to the promise of strike
benefits, the court noted the Board's long standing rule that they were
permissible campaign propaganda. While the court did cite Board author-
ity approving union promises of the waiver of initiation fees, expressly
overruled by the recent Supreme Court decision in N.L.R.B. v. Savair
Manufacturing Co.,9 the court went on to set forth a rationale which
appears viable even in the light of that Supreme Court case:

[a] promise of strike benefits at most presents a protection against a
possible future liability. The promise of such contingent, remote and
uncertain benefits hardly constitutes a restraint on free choice. Unlike a
premium specifically designed to buy votes, future strike funds are bene-
fits routinely associated with unionization. Furthermore, since employers
may advise employees of the dire economic consequences of strikes, it is
only appropriate that the union inform employees of union benefits that
may mitigate those consequences. Uninhibited and complete discussion
of such effects of unionization is essential to a rational and informed
choice by employees.7 °

The court also found that the accusation of the company's attorney, even
if made, was immaterial to the results of the election. Since the statement

67. This was contrary to the Board's finding in that the results of the election could not
have been affected by the votes of the two employees who had no knowledge of the contents
of the company's attempted rebuttal, which the court termed "an obvious arithmetical inac-
curacy" because a change in two votes would have resulted in a tie.

68. 473 F.2d 1364 (5th Cir. 1973).
69. - U.S. -, 94 S.Ct. 495 (1973).
70. 473 F.2d at 1367.
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was made some two weeks before the election, and since the company took
the opportunity at meetings to fully air the charge and its defense thereto,
there was sufficient opportunity to effect a rebuttal to support the refusal
to set aside the election based on that evidence.

In Florida Mining & Materials Corp. v. N.L.R.B.,7 ' the court considered
a novel situation occasioned by a local union's receive notice from its
international union a day before the election, that it had been placed under
temporary trusteeship pending a full hearing before the union. The
employer contended that the union's cancellation of a meeting the night
before the election and the resultant failure to disclose the facts of the
trusteeship amounted to an affirmative misrepresentation of the union's
status sufficient to require the election to be set aside.

The Board contended that in order to sustain the company's position, it
would have to adopt an "affirmative disclosure" requirement which had
never before been formulated or imposed in any reported case. While ac-
knowledging that employees should have the right to know prior to voting
for a union, that at least for a short time actual control of the day-to-day
administration of the local was to be handled by a representative of the
international and not by those people whom the employees had understood
to be heads of the local, the court was impressed by the Board's protesta-
tions that the "affirmative disclosure" rule would present insurmountable
administrative burdens for it. It appears that by using ordinary principles
of the law of fraud,12 and confining the case to its precise facts, the court
could have avoided the specter of imposing a rule of "affirmative disclo-
sure" and still held that the union was guilty of misrepresentation in this
case.

Appropriate Unit and Eligibility to Vote

In N.L.R.B. v. Dalton Sheet Metal Co., 3 the court approved the Board's
ruling that strike replacements hired, but not working, prior to the voter
eligibility date were properly denied the opportunity to vote, even though
they were working on the day of the election. The court agreed with the
Board's conclusion that the rule in Tampa Sand" to the effect that an
employee who is not employed on the eligibility date is eligible to vote
where a strike occurs after the decision and direction of election, is inap-
plicable when the strike occurs before the eligibility date. The court noted
that the purposes of the Tampa Sand rule is to prevent the union from

71. 481 F.2d 65 (5th Cir. 1973).
72. See, e.g., W. PROSSER, LAW OF TORTS (3d ed. 1964) which states:

[miost courts . . . find a duty of disclosure in cases where the defendent has
special knowledge, or means of knowledge, not open to the plaintiff, and is aware
that the plaintiff is acting under a misapprehension as to facts which would be of
importance to him, and would probably affect his decision. Id. at 712.

73. 472 F.2d 257 (5th Cir. 1973).
74. 129 N.L.R.B. 1273 (1961).
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controlling eligibility by its timing of a strike, which factor is not present
when the strike occurs prior to the eligibility date. In addition, while the
court acknowledged that the general rule is that strike replacements re-
place striking employees when they are hired as opposed to when they go
to work, it held that that rule is properly inapplicable to determining when
strike replacements are eligible to vote. The court noted that the purpose
of the Board's rule regarding eligibility is based primarily on ease of ad-
ministrative determination of eligibility, and also noted that in the matter
of eligibility, there is no justification for a distinction between strike re-
placements and other employees.

In Ochsner Clinic v. N.L.R.B.,5 the court found that X-ray technicians
were properly excluded from a unit of all other technicians because the X-
ray technicians were under independent supervision, were paid salaries
established independently, required two years additional training, and
worked in separate areas from the other technicians. Furthermore, there
was very limited interaction between the X-ray technicians and the other
technicians. The court noted the long recognized rule that the Board has
great discretion in such matters, and is not charged with the duty of find-
ing the appropriate unit, but merely an appropriate unit. 76

That same principle was applied in N.L.R.B. v. Sunnyland Refining
Co., 7

7 in which the Board excluded from a unit of "shipper-drivers" a
number of employees who drove trucks one day per week on a regular basis.
The company contended that such employees were "dual function employ-
ees" and as such were includable in the appropriate unit. The court was
unable to agree with the employer's contention that the Board had de-
parted from its decision in Berea Publishing Co. 7 to the effect that the
mere fact an employee spends less than 50% of his time on the duties in
question is not sufficient to exclude the employee. The court noted that in
this case, many factors entered into the Board's decision other than the
mere mention that the employees in question spent less than 50% of their
time in the duties in question.

The court did not approve, however, of inconsistent Board action in the
cases of N.L.R.B. v. Houston Natural Gas Corp.,79 and N.L.R.B. v. L.B.
Foster Co."' In the former case, the court agreed with the Board's finding
that certain "lead operators" who could not hire and fire but who could
recommend that employees be given raises and promotions, and who "to
some extent" directed the work of other employees were not supervisors
within the meaning of the Act, but were rather includable in the unit. The

75. 474 F.2d 206 (5th Cir. 1973).
76. See, e.g., Rhoads, Annual Fifth Circuit Survey:Labor Law, 24 MERCER L. REV. 815,

at 834 n. 113.
77. 474 F.2d 407 (5th Cir. 1973).
78. 140 N.L.R.B. 516 (1963).
79. 478 F.2d 467 (5th Cir. 1973).
80. 477 F.2d 565 (5th Cir. 1973).
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court noted that the Board had found that the relationship of the employ-
ees to others was more "in the nature of highly skilled employees to ones
with less skill."

In Foster, however, the court noted that the employees in that case had
duties which were indistinguishable from the duties of the employees in
Houston Natural Gas. Accordingly, the Board's exclusion of those employ-
ees was considered an abuse of discretion. It should be noted that Foster
was decided per curiam. The disposition of those cases gives rise to a
problem not treated by the court in either case; assuming that the employ-
ees in question exercise precisely the same duties, which of the two possible
dispositions of the case was the more correct? Apparently, the court de-
cided sub silentio that the facts set forth by the Board indicated an ab-
sence of indicia of supervisory authority as a matter of law, and the court
therefore did not rely on the Board's broad discretion in determining unit
questions.

In Abbott Farms, Inc. v. N.L.R.B., the court also determined as a
matter of law that feed mill employees, including truck drivers and mill
operators supporting an employer's poultry raising business, were "agricul-
tural laborers" within the meaning of section 2(3) of the Act. In so holding,
the court followed its prior decision in N.L.R.B. v. Strain Poultry Farms,
Inc.," finding the facts therein virtually indistinguishable from the facts
in Abbott.

CIVIL CONTEMPT

The only civil contempt case to be decided by the court was N.L.R.B.
v. Shill Steel Products, Inc. ,'3 arising out of a union election conducted in
1962. Ultimately, the company was found guilty of unlawful refusal to
bargain and the Board's order to that effect was enforced by the court in
1966. The company then began bargaining and did so for about one year,
when rather than signing an agreement which had been reached, it claimed
doubts as to the union's continued majority and refused to sign. During
the period 1966 to 1967, the company also discharged several employees,
including one supervisor who had previously given testimony adverse to
the company's position in an unfair labor practice hearing. Unfair labor
practice charges were filed by the Board regarding both the company's
refusal to sign the agreement and the discharges. Meanwhile, in 1968, the
Board petitioned the court for a contempt citation, which petition was
referred to a special master whose decision was rendered in 1972. The court
remanded that report to the special master for additional findings, and
after these were submitted found the company in contempt on both the

81. 487 F.2d 904 (5th Cir. 1973).
82. 405 F.2d 1025 (5th Cir. 1969).
83. 480 F.2d 586 (5th Cir. 1973).
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refusal to sign the contract and in the discharges. The court reached these
conclusions only after exhaustive analysis of the evidence submitted before
the master, and with the express acknowlegment of the high degree of proof
required by the Board to show contumacious conduct.

In addition, the court disposed of several defenses raised by the com-
pany, including the argument that the Board waived its right to seek an
adjudication of contempt when it filed the complaint respecting the same
charges later found to be subjects of contempt. The court stated that:

The fact that some of the issues involved in a contempt petition may have
been previously litigated before the Board in unfair labor practice peti-
tions does not make it incumbent on this court to take only the evidence
presented in those proceedings and rely on the rulings made by the Board
and its trial examiners. Rather, contempt of this court's order is a viola-
tion directly against this court. In such cases we feel it is generally prefera-
ble wherever we so desire to appoint a special master to take testimony
under our instructions and to report that directly to the court. We feel in
many cases that this will [probably] [sic] result in a greater measure of
benefit to the one charged with the contempt because at the time of the
actual hearings he will be fully apprised of the charges made against him
as they relate to our earlier opinion. Furthermore, he will know at the time
the full seriousness of the charge and the possible consequences thereof.84

The court's contempt adjudication was severe and detailed, and re-
quired the company, in addition to reinstating with full back pay the
employees in question and recognizing and bargaining with the union, to
submit itself to the supervision of the court with regard to the future course
of negotiations. Among other things, the court required the company to
bargain to impasse, the court deciding when impasse was reached. In addi-
tion, the company was required to participate in bargaining sessions with
the union for at least 15 hours per week and to file with the court sworn
reports signed by both company and union representatives every 30 days
showing in detail the nature and course of bargaining in summary form and
appending thereto any written communications between the union and the
company with respect to such bargaining. Further, the court required the
company to reimburse the employees for all losses and benefits they may
have lost by reason of the company's refusal to execute the contract in
1966, together with interest at the rate of 6% per year.' Moreover, the
company was required to reimburse the Board for its costs and expenses,
including counsel fees and salaries incurred in the preparation and presen-
tation of the contempt proceedings before the special master and the court.
Finally, in order to assure compliance with the provisions of the order, the
court provided for a compliance fine of $5,000 for each and every violation

84. Id. at 595, 596.
85. This remedy was limited to those employees who would have benefited during the

contract.Id. at 598.
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of the contempt adjudication and a further compliance fine of $1,000 per
day for each and every day such violation continued. The scope of the
court's order in this case should provide ample evidence of the folly of
continuing to defy a Board order after enforcement by the court of appeals.

Cases Under Section 301

The number of cases decided under section 301 was more than tripled
over the previous year."' There was also a concomitant greater variety in
the type of cases decided.

Suits to Compel Arbitration

In Local 52 Plumbers Union v. Daniel of Alabama,"7 the court affirmed
a district court order requiring the company to arbitrate a discharge pur-
suant to a clause in the collective bargaining agreement which seemingly
gave the company unfettered discretion over discharges of that type. In
Daniel, the employer discharged 11 employees pursuant to a clause in the
contract which provided that "the employer shall be the sole judge of the
employee's capabilities to perform work in a workmanlike manner." The
union grieved, and the company refused to arbitrate. The court ordered the
company to arbitrate, but only on the limited issue of whether or not the
company acted arbitrarily or in bad faith in discharging the employees in
question. In approving the action of the district court, the court of appeals
noted that while the above-quoted clause seemed to give the employer
complete discretion in situations involving the quality of work, the rest of
the collective bargaining agreement, including the no-strike clause, im-
plied at least the duty to exercise that discretion in good faith, and not
arbitrarily. Accordingly, it was proper to order arbitration, but to limit the
issue.

It should be noted that while it was the employer's appeal which was
denied by the court, this decision may well operate to the benefit of em-
ployers in the future. Thus, in a Boys Markets" situation, a union may well
argue that it has the right to strike over discharges made pursuant to
clauses similar to that quoted above. In such an instance, if the dispute
were not arbitrable, the employer under the rationale of Boys Markets
would not be entitled to injunctive relief. The Daniel9 case makes it possi-
ble for an employer to argue that the dispute is arbitrable, but only in the
limited area of determining whether the company acted in good faith in
administering such a clause.

In I. U. O.E. Local 279 v. Sid Richardson Carbon Co.,9 ° the court agreed

86. There were only three cases decided under §301 during calendar year 1972.
87. 479 F.2d 342 (5th Cir. 1973).
88. Boys Markets, Inc. v. Retail Clerks Local 770, 398 U.S. 235 (1970).
89. See note 87 supra.
90. 471 F.2d 1175 (5th Cir. 1973).
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with the district court that an "accretion" question was not arbitrable
under a collective bargaining arbitration clause limiting grievances to "any
complaint that might arise out of the application of this agreement" even
though in other contracts, such questions may be arbitrable. The court
noted that there was nothing in the contract which could even arguable
give the union the authority to accrete the unit in question. A summary
judgment in favor of the employer was therefore affirmed.

Suits to Enforce Arbitrator's Awards

In Amalgamated Meat Cutters v. Neuhoff Bros. Packers, Inc.," the
court, in disagreement with the trial court, granted enforcement of an
arbitrator's award as against the contention that the arbitrator exceeded
his authority in ordering reinstated two employees accused of theft. The
two employees in question were suspected of theft, and pursuant to the
collective bargaining agreement's provision that the company reserved the
right to require polygraph tests, the company requested each of the em-
ployees to take two separate tests. One employee took both tests, and the
other took the first but refused to take the second. Upon review of the
results of the tests, both employees were discharged.

The company contended that the arbitrator exceeded his authority by
imposing upon the company the burden of proving the employees' guilt
beyond a reasonable doubt. The company further contended he exceeded
his authority by failing to accept into evidence the results of the polygraph
tests, and by further failing to recognize as a ground for discharge the
refusal of the second employee to take the second polygraph test. The court
noted that delineating the burden of proof was not only a function tradi-
tionally reserved to the arbitrator, but that the arbitrator had imposed the
burden in a manner "consistent with general arbitration practice." Fur-
ther, the arbitrator was well within his authority in determining what
evidence to consider, particularly when the issue was as debatable as the
issue of the admission of the results of a lie detector test. Finally, the court
noted that it was within the exclusive province of the arbitrator to deter-
mine whether a particular act of an employee is "proper cause" for dis-
charge, inasmuch as the agreement did not provide specific grounds for
discharge.

In San Antonio Newspaper Guild v. San Antonio Light Division,"2 the
court considered a situation arising from the ambiguity of an arbitration
remedy requiring that a discharged employee be "made whole for any lost
earnings" during the period of his discharge. During that period the em-
ployee was paid by the employer over $4,000 severance pay plus several
hundred dollars in lieu of notice. He also earned over $3,000 with another
employer. The amount he would have earned had he remained employed

91. 481 F.2d 817 (5th Cir. 1973).
92. 481 F.2d 821 (5th Cir. 1973).
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would have been a little over $4,000.
The employer offered to reinstate the employee pursuant to the arbitra-

tor's award, but refused to pay him anything, instead claiming the em-
ployee owed the employer over $4,000. The union sued to enforce the award
of the arbitrator. Contemporaneously, the employer filed a grievance based
on the union's failure to pay the company the difference between what the
employee would have earned had he been employed and what he actually
received. An arbitrator was selected by the parties to resolve what the
company claimed was an ambiguity in the first arbitrator's award. The
second arbitrator, overruling the union's objection that he had no jurisdic-
tion, resolved the issue on the basis that the employee was to be reinstated,
but that the employer would not have to pay the employee any more than
the employee had already received. The arbitrator further found that he
had no jurisdiction regarding the overage.

The district court, in agreement with the company's position, held that
the second arbitrator had jurisdiction and granted the company's motion
for summary judgment. In addition, the district court held that the em-
ployee was required to pay the overage to the employer. The court of
appeals in a 2 to 1 decision reversed in part, noting that the parties should
have resolved the ambiguity by sending the question back to the original
arbitrator for interpretation. It was the court's opinion, however, that to
do this after the second arbitrator had decided would unduly delay the
case. Therefore, the court enforced the second arbitrator's award. The two
concurring judges held that the arbitrator's decision was also dispositive
of the refund, and that question was no longer and that all of the issues
between the parties had been finally resolved. In his dissent, Judge God-
bold felt that the company still should have the right to proceed against
the employee in a separate action for the overage, since both of the arbitra-
tors in their opinions had recognized that right.

Sam Kane Packing Co. v. Amalgamated Meat Cutters3 involves an even
more complicated factual situation. In that case, a number of the com-
pany's employees stopped work, for which action the company had them
removed from the plant and discharged them. The union grieved, claiming
that the company's action constituted an unlawful "lockout."

The contract had a clause making the grievance and arbitration provi-
sions "null and void and of no effect. . . if either party. . . resorts to any
action violative" of the no-strike and no-lock out provisions of the contract.
The employer claimed that the dispute was not arbitrable, refused to arbi-
trate, and unsuccessfully sued to enjoin arbitration on the grounds the
dispute was not arbitrable. The union did not seek to compel arbitration
but rather proceeded to arbitrate under provisions of the contract which
allowed it to name an arbitrator who could render a binding decision "if
* . . the company. . . fails to appoint [its] arbitrator" within a one-week

93. 471 F.2d 1128 (5th Cir. 1973).
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period. The company had appointed an arbitrator who took the position
that the dispute was not arbitrable. Subsequently, the union's arbitrator
held a hearing at which the employer was not present and thereafter ren-
dered a decision for the union, ordering the employees reinstated with back
pay. It was that award that was sought to be enforced in the instant case.

The district court enforced the arbitrator's award, holding that the dis-
pute was arbitrable. The court of appeals, while agreeing with the district
court on the question of arbitrability, nevertheless reversed, holding that
the provision allowing the union unilaterally to arbitrate the dispute had
to be strictly construed under the circumstances of that case. It was noted
by the court that the company did name an arbitrator and that the union
could have sued to compel arbitration which it did not do. The extraordi-
nary relief of the unilateral decision was by the terms of the contract only
available when a party failed to name the arbitrator. The court therefore
remanded the case to the district court for the issuance of an order to both
parties to select an arbitrator and arbitrate the dispute. The court was
particularly sensitive to the apparent lack of communication between the
parties resulting from the characterization of the initial action of the em-
ployer as a "lockout." The court noted that what was really involved in
the case was the allegation by the union that the company took improper
disciplinary action against the employees who had been engaged in a stop-
page of work in place.

In Pence Construction Corp. v. Hoisting Engineers Local 450,11 the court
agreed with the district court that an arbitrator's award of damages to the
company for the union's breach of a no strike clause was enforceable, even
though the arbitrator also found that the company had violated the agree-
ment by discharging a building trades steward, which action triggered the
unlawful strike.

The court noted that the arbitrator was merely requiring the union to
respond in damages for its breach of contract in the same manner that the
company had been required to expend damages in the form of back pay
for its own breach. The court held that the strike was not legitimized
because the terminations neither constituted an unfair labor practice nor
were of such a nature as to threaten ouster of the union or to be destructive
of the bargaining relationship, and that the grievances concerning those
terminations could have been carried out through the normal contractual
procedures within a reasonable time.

The court also rejected the union's contention that the strike was a
"safety strike" under section 502 of the Act, because that contention was
simply not supported by evidence which was only to the effect that the
steward who was discharged was discharged partially for protesting about
safety conditions. In this regard, the court said that "[t]he firing of a
safety protagonist. . . is not proof of unsafety. That alone, in the absence

94. 484 F.2d 398 (5th Cir. 1973).
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of any allegation of particular dangerous conditions, is insufficient to make
this work stoppage a safety strike.' '

Suits for Breach of No-Strike Clause

In Firestone Tire & Rubber Co. v. International Union of Rubber
Workers, " the court, in agreement with the district court, held the em-
ployer was not required to arbitrate the question of whether the no-strike
clause in the contract was breached before filing a suit for damages unless
specifically required to do so by the collective bargaining agreement. The
court found the district court's finding that the contract contained no such
requirement was supported by the record, and therefore affirmed that
court's denial of the stay pending arbitration.

In Dow Chemical Co. v. I. U.E.,11 the court concluded that the evidence
presented by an employer, consisting primarily of eyewitness accounts of
acts by business representatives of the international union, was not suffi-
cient to prove that the international union had participated in tortious
conduct in such a manner as to support punitive damages against the
international union, because the evidence submitted was not "clear proof
of actual participation in, or actual authorization of, such acts or ratifica-
tion of such acts after knowledge thereof" within the meaning of section
6"' of the Norris-LaGuardia Act. The court noted particularly that there
was no evidence tying the acts of representatives of the international to
officers of that organization.

Miscellaneous

Sanderson v. Ford Motor Co." presents an interesting illustration of the
mechanical details of employee suits against employers for breach of the
collective bargaining agreement and against their unions for breach of the
duty of fair representation."'" Under the collective bargaining agreement an
employee's seniority on a "skilled" job was to be computed from his date
of entry into that classification. Under written personnel policies, adopted
and acknowledged by the union as part of the collective bargaining agree-
ment, current employees were to be considered for promotion before em-
ployees were hired from outside the company. The plaintiff in the case was
an employee hired in a skilled job from outside. An employee in the com-

95. Id. at 402. Section 502 of the Act, 29 U.S.C. §143 (1970), provides in pertinent part:
"[Nlor shall the quitting of labor by an employee or employees in good faith

because of abnormally dangerous conditions for work at the place of employment
of such employee or employees be deemed a strike under this chapter."

96. 476 F.2d 603 (5th Cir. 1973).
97. 480 F.2d 433 (5th Cir. 1973).
98. 29 U.S.C. §106 (1970).
99. 483 F.2d 102 (5th Cir. 1973).
100. The seminal case on the duty of fair representation is Vaca v. Sipes, 386 U.S. 171

(1967).
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pany had grieved his hire under the promotion-from-within rule noted
above, but withdrew his grievance on the company's representation that
the slot filled by plaintiff was only temporary, and that the grievant would
get the next permanent job in that category.

Subsequently, events intervened which caused the slot held by plaintiff
to become a permanent job. The company and the union sought to solve
the resulting dilemma by awarding back seniority in the skilled job to the
employee who had grieved plaintiff's original hire. The plaintiff then pro-
tested the awarding of seniority to both the company and the union with-
out results, but subsequently signed a release. The employee then sued,
claiming that his signing of the release was occasioned by the fraud of the
employer and the union. The district court considered that the release was
the key to the case and submitted to the jury only the question of whether
or not it was procured by improper inducements of the employer and the
union. On those instructions, the jury found for the plaintiff.

The court of appeals reversed, holding that despite the seeming clarity
of the collective bargaining agreement which requires seniority in a skilled
job to be computed from the date of entry into the classification, there was
a legitimate conflict between it and the personnel manual provisions re-
garding promotion from within. This gave rise to the legitimate interest of
both the union and the employer to compromise claims based on those
conflicting portions of the understanding between the parties, even with-
out plaintiffs consent. The court therefore remanded the case to the dis-
trict court with instructions to submit to the jury the only real question in
the case; whether the union acted arbitrarily, discriminatorily, or in bad
faith in compromising the competing interests.

Mobil Oil Corp. v. Oil Workers Int'l Union"" was a declaratory judg-
ment action brought under section 301 to determine the validity of an
agency shop provision of a collective bargaining agreement for a bargaining
unit of seamen. The employer contended that the facts showing (1) that
Texas had more contact with the employees than any other state and (2)
that the company's headquarters were in Texas were sufficient to cause the
right-to-work laws of that state to apply to the collective bargaining agree-
ment entered into between the company and the union, with the result
under section 14(b)"'I of the Act, that the agency shop clause would be void
and unenforceable. The court, noting that the employees in question spent
80 to 90 percent of their time on the high seas, held that the right-to-work
laws of Texas did not apply to them, and the clause was therefore not
invalid. The court said "[tihe employees involved here are not for the
purpose of their collective bargaining agreement employees of Texas or any
other state-they are mobile, maritime employees, whose principal place
of employment, or jobsite, is on the high seas.' ' 03 Accordingly, the court

101. 483 F.2d 603 (5th Cir. 1973).
102. 29 U.S.C. §164(b) (1970).
103. 483 F.2d at 610.
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reversed the district court's declaratory judgment that the clause in ques-
tion was unenforceable.

Suits Under Section 302

In Snider v. All State Administrators, Inc.,"'4 an employee sued under
section 302(e)"'I of the Act, seeking injunctive relief against trustees of a
union health and welfare fund which would prevent the trustees from
making future disbursements. Plaintiff also requested other relief in the
nature of an accounting, appointment of a receiver, and removal of defal-
cating trustees. The district court granted injunctive relief but denied the
other relief and advised plaintiff to pursue the remedy in state court if a
satisfactory settlement could not be reached.

The court of appeals affirmed. Noting that the case was one of first
impression, and citing liberally from legislative history, the court con-
cluded that section 302(e) provides only for injunctive relief. While the
judge could have entertained other matters under pendant jurisdiction, the
court held that he did not abuse his discretion in not so doing.

Suits Under Section 303"

In Ramey Construction Co. v. Local 544, Painters,"" the court of appeals
affirmed as not clearly erroneous a district court judge's findings that the
union had not violated section 8(b)(4)'" where it substantially complied
with the rules in Moore Dry Dock."" The court noted that other than
evidence that the union picketed at seven separate common situs loca-
tions, there was no further evidence of unlawful secondary motive, and
that the district court judge had found the union guilty of a violation of
section 8(b)(4) in that only one site was picketed when the primary em-
ployer was absent from the job site.

In Texaco, Inc. v. Plasterer's Local 685,"" the court took occasion to

104. 481 F.2d 387 (5th Cir. 1973).
105. 29 U.S.C. §186(e) (1970).
106. 29 U.S.C. §187(b) (1970), which creates a cause of action in any district court in the

United States without respect to the amount in controversy for persons injured in their
business and property by reason of a violation of §8(b)(4) of the Act, 29 U.S.C. §158(b)(4)
(1970).

107. 472 F.2d 1127 (5th Cir. 1973).
108. 29 U.S.C. §158(b)(4) (1970).
109. Sailors' Union of the Pacific (Moore Dry Dock Co.), 92 N.L.R.B. 547 (1950), which

set forth the following for criteria to test the legality of picketing at a common situs:
(1) Whether the picketing is strictly limited to times when the situs of the dispute
is located on the secondary employer's premises; (2) whether at the time of the
picketing the primary employer is engaged in its normal business at the situs; (3)
whether the picketing is limited to places reasonably close to the situs; (4) whether
the picketing discloses clearly that the dispute is with the primary employer.

110. 472 F.2d 594 (5th Cir. 1973).
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follow its holdings in Edgewood Contracting'' and H. L. Robertson"' that
the finding by the National Labor Relations Board that a union violated
section 8(b)(4) of the Act was res judicata on the issue of liability.

W. J. Milner & Co. of Florida v. I.B.E. W. Local 349,113 considered the
scope of standing to sue under section 303 of the Act. The plaintiff in the
case was the sales arm of a company which was having a concededly
primary dispute with the union. The plaintiff had a contractual exclusive
sales arrangement with the primary employer, but was not organization-
ally integrated with that employer.

The court began with the recognition that while the language "whoever
shall be injured" in section 303 is extraordinarily broad, the legislative
history indicated that Congress intended to create some limitation on
standing to sue under that section. After reviewing the cases, the court
found that it was "clear" that an employer could recover if he showed some
combination of the following circumstances: (1) an integrated business
enterprise which includes a third party and either the primary or the
neutral employer; (2) direct injury to the third party's property; (3) a
principal-agent relationship between the third party and the primary em-
ployer.

Despite finding that the instant case did not fit into any of those circum-
stances, the court concluded that it did not follow that the employer was
precluded from recovering damages because the above-cited cases did not
purport to enumerate an exclusive set of circumstances giving rise to
standing, nor did any of the decisions undertake a specific analysis of the
issues in light of the purposes and policies of the Act. The court, noting
that the plaintiff was "directly in the line of fire of the union action ulti-
mately intended to bring pressure on the primary employer,",' 4 found dam-
age to the plaintiff a reasonably foreseeable consequence of those actions:

Indeed, from what we can discern from the record the unions had a full
appreciation of the economic realities of the Milner-Southwire relation-
ship. Their strategy appears to have been predicated entirely on the as-
sumption that a decline in Milner's sales would eventually be felt by the
primary object of the boycott, Southwire. The unions apparently accom-
plished what they set out to do. The damage suffered by Milner was the
substantial equivalent of the result which would have been produced if
Milner had been the primary object of the union's secondary activity. In
light of these circumstances, which must be assessed on a case by case
basis, it is our conclusion that on the precise facts alleged in this case the
district court erred in dismissing Milner's claim for failure to state a
federal cause of action.' '5

111. Painters Dist. Council 38 v. Edgewood Constr. Co., 416 F.2d 1081 (1969).
112. H.L. Robertson & Associates, Inc. v. Plumbers Local 519, 429 F.2d 520 (1970).
113. 476 F.2d 8 (5th Cir. 1973).
114. Id. at 12.
115. Id.
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Accordingly, the court remanded the case to the district court for a deter-
mination of the issues raised by the complaint and answer.

RAILWAY LABOR ACT

In National Airlines, Inc. v. I.A.M.," 6 the court considered the claims of
two groups of employees dissatisfied with the manner in which the union
and the company settled their differences arising out of the extensive liti-
gation arising from the company's mass discharge of wildcat strikers in
January, 1969."17 At issue with regard to one group of employees was the
method by which the parties computed the amount of back pay. The
employees contended that the settlement failed to comply with the 1970
decision of the court awarding back pay in the method formally approved
in Galveston Wharves."'5

While the court ackowledged that the method of computation arrived at
in the settlement was indeed different from that described in Galveston,
the court noted that Galveston would not preclude the court from approv-
ing a settlement by the parties which adopts another method of computa-
tion, since settlements are to be encouraged. Because the court was con-
vinced that the settlement was fairly arrived at through arm's length bar-
gaining, that the method of computation was neither arbitrary nor unrea-
sonable, and that the award was sufficient to ensure that the company
would not benefit from its violation of the Act, the court declined to inter-
fere with the agreement.

The second group of employees claimed that because of their discharge
they were unable to upgrade from mechanic to flight engineer as early as
they otherwise would have been; and that therefore their seniority as flight
engineer had been impaired. They claimed the failure of the settlement to
remedy that loss of seniority rendered it defective as to them. The court
agreed with the district court that since flight engineers were not repre-
sented by the union, the union could not purport to resolve claims respect-
ing flight engineer seniority. Therefore, that group of employees had no
grounds to attack the settlement, and the settlement had no effect on their
claims against the company respecting flight engineer seniority.

OCCUPATIONAL SAFETY AND HEALTH ACT

During the year, the court reviewed for the first time cases arising under
the Occupational Safety and Health Act."9 Most of the decisions were

116. 478 F.2d 1062 (5th Cir. 1973).
117. The other related decisions of the court appear at 416 F.2d 998 (1969), and 430 F.2d

957 (1970).
118. United Indus. Workers v. Board of Trustees of Galveston Wharves, 400 F.2d 20 (5th

Cir. 1968), cert. denied, 395 U.S. 905 (1969).
119. 29 U.S.C. §651 (1970).
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decided on the summary calendar, and the problems considered by the
court reflected the difficulties faced by the Secretary of Labor, the Occupa-
tional Safety and Health Review Commission, and employers operating in
a new administrative framework.

In Brennan v. Occupational Safety & Health Review Commission,2 " the
court held that a letter requesting that a penalty be abated filed within
the requisite fifteen-day period, constituted a notice of contest of the pro-
posed penalty, but not of the citation. The court rejected the Secretary's
contention that since the letter was in the form of a request, it did not
constitute a valid notice of contest. In this connection, the court noted that
the Commission's own regulations provide that there shall be no specific
requirements as to form of a notice of contest. 2 '

The court also held that the Review Commission abused its discretion
by dismissing the case, because the Secretary failed to transmit the letter
to the Commission within seven days of its receipt as required by the
statute. The court held that imposition of such a sanction without provid-
ing the opportunity for a hearing was beyond the authority of the Commis-
sion, noting that the purpose of the Act was to protect employees rather
than employers, and that the reason for providing such a short period of
time for receipt of the notice of contest to transmission to the Commission
was to resolve any disputes concerning the citations as quickly as possible.
Since the employer was merely requesting a hearing, the most the Com-
mission should have done was to grant that hearing and not vacate the
proposed penalty.

In Texports Stevedore Co. v. Secretary of Labor,2 the court held after-
the-fact observations and investigation made by OSHA officials, which
evidence was properly placed into the record, was "substantial evidence"
supporting the Commission's finding that the employer was guilty of a
serious violation of the Act.

In Brennan v. Occupational Safety and Health Review Commission, 2
3

the court declined to settle a dispute between the Commission and the
Secretary after the employer, who was the subject of the citation in ques-
tion, had fully complied with the Secretary's findings and order and had
withdrawn from the case. Refusing to decide either that there was no case
or controversy presented, or that the case had become moot, the court
stated:

120. 487 F.2d 230 (5th Cir. 1973).
121. 29 C.F.R. §2200.7(b)(1) provided in pertinent part:

There shall be no specific requirements as to the form of notice of contest, or a
modification of abatement, except that it shall clearly identify the citation, notifi-
cation of proposed penalty, or notification of failure to correct violation which forms
the basis for its filing ... shall clearly identify the party by whom it is filed ....

This regulation has since been changed.
122. 484 F.2d 465 (5th Cir. 1973).
123. 481 F.2d 619 (5th Cir. 1973).
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[W]e are firm in our conviction that this court should not undertake to
resolve a contest between two federal agencies as to the respective rights,
powers, duties and responsibilities in circumstances where the chief party
in interest has long since, for reasons best known to itself, declined to
remain in the focal center for an administrative whirlwind of such minor
proportions.

24

Finally, in Skidmore v. Travelers Insurance Co.,' 25 the court agreed with
a district court's ruling on a motion to dismiss, that the Occupational
Safety and Health Act did not carry an implied private remedy against
executive officers of an employer found guilty of violating the Act. The
court did not deem that question to be sufficiently important to write a
full decision, deciding the case in one paragraph.

FAIR LABOR STANDARDS AcT

During the year, the court decided 16 cases under the Fair Labor Stan-
dards Act, 2

1 involving a wide range of issues.

Coverage

In Brennan v. Hatton, 27 the court held a sole proprietorship having three
employees engaged in the installation, repair, and maintenance of air con-
ditioning and heating systems, approximately 90% of whose purchases
were manufactured in the state of Texas, was an "enterprise engaged in
commerce" within the meaning of section 3(s)128 of the Act. The court
rejected the employer's contention that he was exempt from the Act's
requirements solely because he was engaged in only one business, declaring
that allowing such a defense would frustrate the purposes of the Act. The
court held that since the business of installing, repairing, and maintaining
air conditioning and heating systems, including duct work, in residential
properties, is an enterprise "engaged in the business of construction or re-
construction or both," and that the company's employees were "handling,
selling or otherwise working on goods that have been moved in and pro-
duced for commerce," the employer was subject to minimum wage and
overtime requirements of the Act.

124. Id. at 620.
125. 483 F.2d 67 (5th Cir. 1973).
126. This represented an increase of four cases over last year's volume.
127. 474 F.2d 9 (5th Cir. 1973).
128. 29 U.S.C. §203(s)(1970), which provides in pertinent part:

Enterprise engaged in commerce . . . means an enterprise which has employees
engaged in commerce . . . including employees handling. . . or otherwise working
on goods that have been moved in or produced for commerce by any person, and
which . . . . (3) is engaged in the business of construction or reconstruction, or
both.
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In Brennan v. Wilson Building, Inc., 2 9 the court held an office building
covered under "enterprise coverage," because it employed nine elevator
operators, operating elevators transferring passengers and persons deliver-
ing interstate mail, parcel post, and freight. The court concluded that
those employees were "engaged in commerce" where mail deliveries were
made twice per day and the freight was delivered on a weekly basis.

In Brennan v. Veterans Cleaning Service Inc.,' 3 the court held that an
industrial-commercial cleaning service, a corporation engaged in furnish-
ing maids, and a septic tank cleaning service, held out as part of a cleaning
business and whose vehicles were interchanged, were "related activities
• . . for a common business purpose"' 3' and because commonly owned,
constituted an "enterprise." The court therefore concluded that the gross
annual volume of sales of each entity could be aggregated to effect cover-
age.

In Brennan v. Green's Propane Gas Service, Inc.,' 32 the court held that
a company purchasing gas at the pipeline from out of state, and in turn
delivering it to customers by truck, had employees "handling, selling, or
otherwise working on goods that have been moved in . . . commerce' ' 3:

1

and was therefore covered by the Act. The court rejected the employer's
contention that removal of impurities from the gas which had been accu-
mulated in the transmission, and the addition of an odorizer to that gas
as required by state law, did not so alter the gas as to change the commod-
ity which had been moved in commerce.

The court noted in all of the above decisions the necessity for liberally
construing coverage in order to effectuate the remedial purposes of the Act.

Record Keeping and Hours Worked

In Brennan v. National Hotel Co.,' 34 the court considered both proce-
dural and substantive aspects of section 3(m) 35of the Act, which authorizes
employers to take a partial credit against the minimum wage they are
required to pay for amounts presumably received in tips by their tipped

129. 478 F.2d 1090 (5th Cir. 1973).
130. 482 F.2d 1362 (5th Cir. 1973).
131. 29 U.S.C. §203(r)(Supp. 1972) defines the word "enterprise" as "The related activi-

ties performed (either through unified operation or common control) by any person or persons
for a common business purpose. .. "

132. 479 F.2d 1027 (5th Cir. 1973).
133. 29 U.S.C. §203(s)(1970).
134. 476 F.2d 17 (5th Cir. 1973).
135. 29 U.S.C. §203(m) (1970), which in effect allows an employer to deduct from mini-

mum wage payment all tips received by an employee up to 50%,
except that in the case of an employee who . . . shows to the satisfaction of the
Secretary that the actual amount of tips received by him was less than the amount
determined by the employer as the amount by which the wage paid him was
deemed to be increased under this sentence, the amount paid such employee by his
employer shall be be deemed to have been increased by such lesser amount.
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employees. In this case, the Secretary contended that the tipped employ-
ees were being given credit for tips not actually received, and that the
employer's payments were therefore not sufficient to comply with the mini-
mum wage provisions of the Act. The Secretary brought suit in the district
court, and in accordance with the provisions of section 3(m) and the regu-
lations adopted thereunder, that court remanded the case to the Secretary
for an administrative hearing and determination on the question of how
much the hotel's tipped employees were actually receiving. At that hear-
ing, both parties were permitted to present evidence, and the evidence
revealed the employer was paying 50% of the applicable minimum wage
even though it had been receiving reports from its employees indicating
they were not receiving enough in tips to justify the credit being taken. The
basis for the employer's continued deduction of that amount was the em-
ployer's assumption that the employees were under-reporting their tip
credits. In support of this, it cited tax cases and a Department of Labor
survey as to what employees in similarly situated hotels were receiving.

On this evidence, the hearing examiner found that the employer had not
met his burden to show that the employees were in fact receiving sufficient
tips to make up the difference between what the employer was paying and
the minimum wage. This decision was certified to the district court, which
held that the preponderance of evidence supported a conclusion contrary
to the hearing examiner's decision.

The court of appeals reversed, holding that the district court erred in not
applying the "substantial evidence" standard of review. Noting that the
district court could have held its own hearing on the issues before it, the
court of appeals pointed out that it had not done this, but had remanded
it for an administrative hearing. Having done so, the court then was bound
to uphold the findings made therein if the record as a whole contained
substantial evidence to support that conclusion. The court of appeals was
unwilling, however, to hold as a matter of law that substantial evidence
did support the administrative conclusion, and therefore remanded the
case to the district court for reconsideration under the correct standard of
review.

In Brennan v. General Motors Acceptance Corp., '36the court agreed with
a district court ruling that an employer wilfully violated the Act by failing
to pay overtime premium to its district representatives, field representa-
tives, and telephone collection men, whose work concededly did not qualify
them for any exemptions under the Act. The company had been relying
on time sheets completed by the employees themselves in the field. The
district court found as a matter of fact that, despite efforts of upper echelon
management to encourage accurate overtime reporting, the employees nev-
ertheless understated their overtime because of pressure brought to bear
by their immediate superiors. The trial court found that the pressure con-

136. 482 F.2d 825 (5th Cir. 1973).
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sisted of a requirement that reported overtime hours be kept to a stated
minimum.

The court rejected the company's argument that it had no knowledge of
the unreported overtime, finding that it had at least constructive knowl-
edge since during the three years preceeding the lawsuit, 26 employees had
been working an average of 13 hours of overtime per week.

The result in this case appears somewhat inconsistent with the result
reached by the court in Brumbelow v. Quality Mills, Inc.,'37 decided in the
previous year, in which the court held the employer not responsible for
hours which one of its home-working employees may have worked when she
knowingly failed to report she had worked those hours on her own records.
In that case, as in General Motors Acceptance Corp., the employer utilized
minimum required production in an effort to control the hours worked by
the employees in question. The difference between the two cases seems to
be primarily in the emphasis that was placed by the finder of fact on the
intent of the employer in establishing the minimum production standards.
At the risk of over simplification, in Brumbelow the intent found was to
control the hours worked, whereas in General Motors Acceptance Corp. the
intent was to conceal the actual hours worked. Such a difference, of course,
should affect the result and would help to explain the seeming inconsis-
tency in the results of the cases.

Minimum Wage

In Brennan v. Veterans Cleaning Service, Inc.,'3the court held that pay-
ments by an employer to third parties at the employee's direction may be
deducted from wages and counted as wages paid for purposes of the mini-
mum wage. The court noted that while section 3(m) does not specifically
allow such deductions, the courts have recognized that repayment to an
employer of amounts misappropriated by the employee may be made by
means of paycheck deduction because in those cases the employees have
taken the money free and clear and had the use of it. The court felt that a
similar rule should obtain for repayment by paycheck deductions of free
and clear advances to employees, as well as to deductions to pay third-
party creditors of the employee at the employee's direction and with his
consent. The court did not feel, however, that a debt allegedly owed by the
employee directly to the employer arising out of a non-loan transaction
should be subject to the same rules, holding that such payments do not
fit within the "free and clear" concept required by the Act.

Exemptions

The court considered a number of cases involving the interpretation of

137. 462 F.2d 1324 (5th Cir. 1973).
138. 482 F.2d 1362 (5th Cir. 1973).
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exemptions from the overtime privision of the Act. Two, Hodgson v. Colon-
nades, Inc.," ' and Brennan v. Six Flags Over Georgia Ltd., 140 involved
similar analyses and reached the same result.

In Colonnades, the court held that the section 13(b)(8)"1 exemption from
overtime for "any employee employed by an establishment which is a
hotel" was not available for employees of the hotel who were members of
a full-time crew maintained for the principal purpose of building, remodel-
ing, and rendering substantial alterations to the premises. Noting the well
established rule that exemptions must be narrowly construed, and that the
issue of whether an employee is exempt from the requirements of the Act
is a question of fact, the court held correct the district court's finding that
the primary function of the construction crew had little if anything to do
with the daily operation of the hotel. This brought them outside of the
exemption which contemplated that the duties of employees so exempted
would be reasonably related to and directed toward the operation of the
hotel.

In Six Flags, the employer advanced a similar argument that employees
performing maintenance and repairs and year-end remodeling were not
exempt by virtue of the amusement-and-recreational-establishment ex-
emption contained in section 13(a)(3) " of the Act. Citing Colonnades, the
court rejected the employer's argument noting that the nature of the work
is what gives rise to the need for an exemption and that the exemption is
not a subsidy to be accorded to an employer because of his principal
activities.

In Brennan v. Great American Discount & Credit Co.,"' the court in a
case of first impression in the circuit courts held, in agreement with the
Secretary, that employment agencies are not entitled to the "retail or
service establishment" exemption of section 13(a)(2)"' of the Act, because
they lack a "retail concept." 5 Again citing the proposition that exemp-
tions from the Act are to be narrowly construed, and limited to employees
plainly and unmistakably within their terms, the court found the Retail
and Service Establishment Interpretative Bulletin"' made clear that the
term "retail" was not properly applicable to employment agencies. While
the court recognized that it was not bound by an interpretative bulletin,
it found the bulletin under consideration was persuasive because of its

139. 472 F.2d 42 (5th Cir. 1973).
140. 474 F.2d 18 (5th Cir. 1973).
141. 29 U.S.C. §213(b)(8) (1970).
142. 29 U.S.C. §213(a)(3) (1970).
143. 477 F.2d 292 (5th Cir. 1973).
144. 29 U.S.C. §213(a)(2) (1970).
145. The term "retail concept," is an elusive shorthand term used by the Department of

Labor which is a prerequisite for determining whether a particular business can qualify as a
"retail or service establishment."

146. 29 C.F.R. §779 (1973).
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thoroughness, its consistency, and the validity of its reasoning. The court
also noted that the two other district courts had considered the issue and
concluded that employment agencies were not exempt as retail. Accord-
ingly, the court reversed the district court's contrary holding.

In Brennan v. Green's Propane Gas Service, Inc.,"' the court found that
driver-salesmen operating trucks were not a "separate establishment" be-
cause they were merely selling arms of the employer, a seller of retail and
wholesale propane gas.

In Brennan v. Deel Motors, Inc.,"' the court found, in agreement with
the Secretary, that employees variously titled "service writers," "service
advisers," or "service salesmen,." who worked directly with customers coor-
dinating the sale of numerous goods, services and mechanical skills pro-
vided by the company, and who diagnosed each customer's problems with
his automobile and then referred the car to an appropriate department
within the company's business operation, monitored the work while in
progress and determined whether satisfactory job had been done, were
"salesmen . . . primarily engaged in selling or servicing automobiles
. " They were therefore exempt from the overtime provisions of the
Act under section 13(b)(10), "9 since they were employed by an automobile
dealer primarily engaged in the business of selling automobiles to the
ultimate purchasers. The court noted that, initially, the Secretary had
held that section 13(b)(10) did exempt individuals with the duties of serv-
ice salesmen, but later changed his mind.'5 0 The Court felt that this was
not dispositive of the case, but showed that the issue was a close one.
Considering the legislative history which indicated that all salesmen of an
automobile dealership were intended to be within the exemption, and
finding that the employees in question clearly served the function of sales-
men, the court could find no basis for denying the exemption with respect
to those employees.

In Brennan v. Sugar Cane Growers Cooperative,'5 ' the court considered
the application of the agricultural exemption contained in section
13(b)(12)' '2 to camp cooks and attendants whose work was done exclusively
at the labor camp facility of a sugar plantation, but who never worked in
the fields, and the application of section 13(b)(15),' 53 the sugar cane pro-
cessing exemption, to boiler room employees working where steam was
produced for both the processing of sugar cane and for an adjacent plant

147. 479 F.2d 1027 (5th Cir. 1973).
148. 475 F.2d 1095 (5th Cir. 1973).
149. 29 U.S.C. §213(b)(10) (1970).
150. Compare Wage-Hour Opinion Letter Number 630, July 6, 1967, CCH LAB. LAW

REP. 30, 620, with Wage Hour Opinion Letter Number 660, August 4, 1967, CCH LAB. LAW
REP. 30, 652 codified in 29 C.F.R. §779.372(c)(4) (1973).

151. 486 F.2d 1006 (5th Cir. 1973).
152. 29 U.S.C. §213(b)(12) (1970).
153. 29 U.S.C. §213(b)(15) (1970).
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owned by a separate company not producing sugar cane. The court agreed
with the Secretary that the latter employees did not qualify for the sugar-
cane-processing exemptions, since they were "engaged" in the non-exempt
work of producing steam for the adjacent non-sugar-cane-producing plant.
The company had contended that because all control over the process by
which the steam was diverted to the other plant was exercised by that
plant, and since a cessation of the diversion of steam to the plant would
result in no change whatsoever in the duties of the employees, the rule that
no exemption could be allowed for compensation of employees whose work
consists of both exempt and non-exempt activity was not applicable. The
court felt that argument confused the criterion for determining when one
is "engaged" in exempt or non-exempt work, and held that the controlling
factor was whether the labor had a cause-and-effect relationship to the
non-exempt activity. The court further held that the small amount of
steam in question made no difference in the result, stating that "de
minimus has no viable place in the interpretation of the FLSA."

With regard to the cooks and attendants, however, the court disagreed
with the Secretary and held that they were exempt under the agricultural
exemption. The court felt that the crucial issue was whether the cooks and
attendants performed their work "on a farm." The court held:

Although we find no precedent directly in point and the issue presents
difficulty, we conclude that the work done by the cooks and attendants
in this case is "on a farm" for purposes of the agricultural exemption. It
would not be physically possible for Sugar Cane to place its labor camps
right in the middle of the cane fields. Sugar Cane* does not claim an
agricultural exemption for workers whose efforts are confined to a process-
ing mill at some remote location. These employees rather, perform their
work at a location in close proximity to the fields worked by the laborers
for whom they cook and clean . . . .Our interpretation of "on a farm"
seems to us to be more nearly in line with what the terminology really
envisages. The drafters of the section could not anticipate every conceiva-
ble factual situation arising in the future under the agricultural exemption
and the statutory language not be read with such an assumption. We hold,
consequently, that because of the unique facts in this case, the question
of whether the work of the camp cooks and attendants was done "on a
farm" should be resolved against the Secretary. A labor camp housing 375
men is "on a farm" in the only sense it can be if it is in fact adjacent to
and near the farm land being harvested.'

The court concluded by noting that both issues were "close, difficult, and
no doubt Congressionally unanticipated factual questions." The court's
decision reflects awareness of these problems.

154. 486 F.2d at 1010, 1011.
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EQUAL PAY AcT

In Hodgson v. Behrens Drug Co.,' 55 the court held a sales training pro-
gram which was neither an illusory nor a mere post-event justification for
disparate wage payment was a "factor other than sex" within the meaning
of the exception to the general prohibition of the Equal Pay Act' 5 for two
reasons. First, the trainee does not advance out of the training stage at a
determinable point, but only in the event of a sales opening. Further, no
woman had ever participated in the training program.

The court acknowledged that the issue of whether a trainee position
should be open to women was a question to be ultimately resolved under
Title VII of the Civil Rights Act, 57 but held that factor must be considered
in determining whether the programs are "bona fide" so as to qualify them
as a factor other than sex. The court noted that the company's president
had testified that women were not solicited as sales trainees because "fe-
males were never considered as suitable for traveling." That, the court
said, was a clear example of the attitude of male suitability designed to
be nullified by the Equal Pay Act.

The court also disposed of the company's argument that the term "bona
fide training program" means merely "in good faith without fraud," hold-
ing that a bona fide training program to constitute a valid exception to the
Equal Pay Act must represent more than an honest effort. The court was
also unimpressed with the company's argument that to rule its training
program invalid would discriminate against small companies, noting that
training programs excluding females, whether originated by large or small
companies, carried a stigma of suspect validity.

Another issue raised in the case was whether a male employee who, in
addition to other duties performed by his female counterpart, worked sev-
eral hours on Saturday mornings taking orders and delivering merchandise
to customers, occasionally taking telephone orders at the city order desk,
infrequently driving a delivery truck when specially requested, and partici-
pating in Sunday sales shows two or three times a year, performed suffi-
cient extra effort to justify his higher wage rate. The court held that some
of the activities did not consume significant amounts of time, and those
which did were ordinarily performed by full-time employees compensated
at a lower rate. The duties accordingly failed to meet the test set by the
court in the Brookhaven Hospital'51 case and were therefore properly dis-

155. 475 F.2d 1041 (5th Cir. 1973).
156. 29 U.S.C. §206(b)(1) (1970).
157. 42 U.S.C. §2000(e) (1970).
158. Hodgson v. Brookhaven Gen. Hosp., 436 F.2d 719 (5th Cir. 1970), which held in

pertinent part:
[Jiobs do not entail equal effort, even though they entail most of the same routine

duties, if the more highly paid job involves additional tasks which (1) require extra
effort, (2) consume a significant amount of the time of all those who pay differen-
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counted by the lower court.
In Brennan v. City Stores, Inc., '9 the court in agreement with the dis-

trict court, held that the duties of women selling women's clothing and
men selling men's clothing were substantially equal within the meaning of
section 206(d)(1)'"11 of the Act, and that the duties of the seamstress were
essentially equal to those of the tailor. Noting that the test to be applied
was whether the findings of fact of the district court were clearly erroneous,
the court nevertheless found the district court had thoroughly and properly
considered the duties of the employees in question in great detail and
reached proper conclusions. Among the factors considered by the lower
court were the fact that all sales personnel in the departments covered by
its order were responsible for marking and fitting clothes as well as selling
items to customers. It also considered and found wholly insubstantial the
differences between marking cuffs, crotches, and waistbands of men's suits
and adjusting hemlines, shoulders, or waists of women's dresses. Finally,
the court below provided representative examples of how saleswomen in
the foundation and millinery departments marked and fitted items as
compared with marking and fitting done by the male salesmen, and found
them to be substantially equal. In affirming, the court examined the legis-
lative history of the Equal Pay Act, and found that the district court's
decision was not deficient because of different terminology for the "equal
skill, effort and responsibility" test. The court then enunciated the stan-
dard it would follow in reviewing equal pay decisions of the lower court:

Only if the evidence and findings indicated the court (1) applied the
Act's prohibitions whether it was an insufficient congruence of jobs, or
(2) failed to apply these prohibitions where job differences were insub-
stantial, would we question the court's use of a particular phrase."'

In Brennan v. J.M. Fields, Inc.,'"2 the court compared the duties of so-
called soft line area supervisors, responsible for clothing and infant acces-
sories, with those of hard line supervisors, responsible for all other goods,
such as housewares, cosmetics, automobile accessories, etc. The major
difference between the duties of those two categories of employees was the
manner of ordering replenishment of stock. Soft line qoods were reordered
through the utilization of a computer which was fed pre-punched portions
of sales tickets removed by cashiers when the items were purchased. The
reordering of hard line goods, on the other hand, was based for the most
part on physical counts of merchandise on hand. The court disagreed with
the lower court's decision that the hard line and soft line manager jobs were

tials are to be justified in terms of them, and (3) are of an economic value commen-
surate with the pay differential. 436 F.2d at 725.

159. 479 F.2d 235 (5th Cir. 1973).
160. 29 U.S.C. §206(d)(1) (1970).
161. 479 F.2d at 239 (5th Cir. 1973).
162. 488 F.2d 443 (5th Cir. 1973).
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unequal because of the different method of ordering the replacement mer-
chandise. The court held the district court's finding that the hard line
supervisor's job required more skill was not supported by evidence, since
there was no meaningful differentiation in the experience, training, educa-
tion, or ability of incumbents of those jobs. Moreover, the court concluded
the record was unsatisfactory as to the existence of a possible ground for
sustaining a distinction between the two categories of jobs based on either
effort or responsibility, and accordingly remanded the case to the district
court for further findings as to those factors.

Procedure and Relief

In Hodgson v. Griffin & Brand of McAllen, Inc.,163 the court held that
the district court finding that the fruit and vegetable company which
engaged field workers through "crew leaders" was a joint employer for Fair
Labor Standards Act purposes, was not clearly erroneous. Therefore, the
employer was properly subject to the Act and responsible for any minimum
wage and overtime violations. The court held that even if the crew leaders
were independent contractors, that would not negate the possibility that
the employer was a joint employer. There was evidence in the record which
indicated that the supervisory employees of the company set the hours of
work, assigned the areas for work, set the rate of pay, and oversaw the
general harvest work, giving instructions to the crew leaders, who in turn
passed them on to the workers. This evidence of control amply supported
the finding of joint employer relationship. Of interest in this case is the fact
that the injunction granted by the district court was only directed against
future violations of the act. The decision does not reflect whether the
Secretary had sought additional relief in the case.

In Hodgson v. Colonnades, Inc., "' the court agreed with the district
court which found that an injunction directed toward the owner of the
company who participated in the day-to-day supervision of the activities
giving rise to the violations, had the authority to hire and fire the employ-
ees in question, and supervised the supervisors. The district court held an
injunction directed to McArthur personally would be inappropriate and
unnecessary under the circumstances, since the evidence indicated that
the management and operation of the hotel were regularly supervised by
others. The court did not find that to be an abuse of discretion.

In addition, in the same case, the court considered the propriety of
allowing the Secretary to amend his complaint during trial, adding an
additional 63 employees having back wage claims-approximating $27,000,
some four times the amount sought in the original complaint. The court
could find no serious disadvantage to the company, despite the company's
claim that it would have defended the case differently if it had known more

163. 471 F.2d 235 (5th Cir. 1973).
164. 472 F.2d 42 (5th Cir. 1973).
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money and a greater number of employees were involved, and affirmed the
district court's decision to allow the amendment.

In Brennan v. J.M. Fields, Inc., 16 5 and Brennan v. General Motors Ac-
ceptance Corp. ,,6 the court again reiterated its holding of last year in Jiffy
June Farms"' that the proper test for determining whether an employer's
violation of the Act was "willful" is, "Did the employer know the FLSA
was in the picture?" Finding that in each case the employer was aware of
the Act when formulating its compensation plan, the court found uncon-
vincing the employer's assertions that they did not willfully violate the Act
because they were acting in good faith.

Miscellaneous

In Sprouse v. Federal Prison Industries, Inc., '6 the court considered the
interesting argument that the wholly owned government corporation em-
ploying prisoners in the federal prison system to manufacture certain items
for the consumption of prison institutions or for sale to the departments
and agencies of the United States, was an "employer" within the meaning
of the Act and therefore required to compensate prisoners working in that
industry at a rate not less than the minimum wage.

The court held that while the corporation was self-sufficient and incor-
porated in the District of Columbia, the statute under which it was organ-
ized required that all monies under its control or received by it should be
paid into the United States Treasury into a special fund, and that therefore
the suit was one essentially against the United States, not cognizable in
the court.

The court also found unpersuasive the argument that Congress, by omit-
ting from the exception clause of the FLSA the phrase "or any wholly-
owned government corporation "" evinced its intention to include suits
against corporations such as FPI. The court held that because the suit was
essentially against the United States, the government's consent to be sued
had to be examined narrowly and that any notion of implied waiver of
government immunity was negated by Congress's explicit provision for
prisoner compensation, by which the plaintiffs in the case were compen-
sated. 70 The court noted that the Supreme Court had in an analogous
situation held that federal prisoners had no right of action under the Fed-

165. 488 F.2d 443 (5th Cir. 1973).
166. 482 F.2d 825 (5th Cir. 1973).
167. 458 F.2d. 1139 (5th Cir. 1972).
168. 480 F.2d. 21 (5th Cir. 1973).
169. 29 U.S.C. §203(d) (1970) provides that the term "employer," "shall not include the

United States."
170. 18 U.S.C. §4126 (1970) authorizes Federal Prison Industries to pay "compensation

to inmates employed in any industry ... and compensation to inmates for their dependence
for injury suffered in any industry .... In no event shall compensation be paid in a greater
amount than that provided in the Federal Employees Compensation Act."
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eral Tort Claims Act, because the injury compensation was provided else-
where by federal statute."'The court, accordingly, affirmed the district
court's dismissal of the action.

171. Id.


